RECEIVED

Jan 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RAYMOND MARTINEZ,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-001201

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by refusing to charge the jury on appellant's jury instruction on prudent considerations when considering the testimony of an accomplice, Court's Exhibit #5, since the charge contained correct information that was not within the ordinary understanding of the jurors, and it was not a charge on the facts as the solicitor claimed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the September 22, 2020 term of the Greenville County grand jury for the offenses of murder, armed robbery, burglary in the first degree, criminal conspiracy, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and petit larceny. R. 595-598. His case was called to trial together with that of co-defendant, Robert Belcher, on July 17, 2023, before the Honorable Perry H. Gravely, and a jury. Christopher Grubbs and Kaitlyn Diaz represented appellant. Kenneth Gibson represented co-defendant Belcher. The assistant solicitors were Elizabeth Gray and Jay Jennings-Gresham. R. 1.

On July 20, 2023, the jury found appellant and co-defendant Belcher guilty on all counts. R. 553, l. 25 – 555, l. 4. Judge Gravely sentenced appellant and co-defendant Belcher to concurrent forty-five years prison terms for murder, thirty years imprisonment for armed robbery, twenty years imprisonment for burglary in the first degree, five years imprisonment for possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and time served for conspiracy and petit larceny. R. 556, ll. 5-17.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases an appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Id.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by refusing to charge the jury on appellant's jury instruction on prudent considerations when considering the testimony of an accomplice, Court's Exhibit #5, since the charge contained correct information that was not within the ordinary understanding of the jurors, and it was not a charge on the facts as the solicitor claimed.

Introduction

This is a circumstantial evidence case. Appellant was indicted with co-defendant, Robert Belcher in this burglary, armed robbery, and murder case. Several witnesses had a personal stake or a direct liberty stake in their testimony for the state. These included Kirk Porter and Keyla Mansell, who were both accomplices to whomever were the burglars – which the state asserted were the same men as murdered the decedent inside his apartment. There were no eyewitnesses to the fatal shooting.

Relevant Facts

Cedric McKinney was the decedent's roommate in December 2017. The decedent was known as "Twin." Twin was a drug dealer and he had gone to prison for drug convictions. McKinney became his roommate when he was recently released. McKinney was forty years-old and he worked at PL Developments in Greenville. R. 14, l. 9 – 16, l. 17.

McKinney remembered on New Years Eve in 2017 that he last saw the decedent at about 5:30 p.m. A New Years Eve celebration was planned for that evening in several apartments within the complex. R. 17, l. 22 – 18, l. 19. There was going to be a party at McKinney's aunt's apartment and both of his cousins were having celebrations in their apartments, as well. R. 18, ll. 20-24.

McKinney was at one of the early New Years Eve parties when he was asked to go get the decedent because his girlfriend, Shelvis, was ready to be picked up for a party. R. 21, ll. 6-15.

McKinney remembered returning to his apartment and opening the door. He saw the decedent laying on the floor. Their apartment had been ransacked. McKinney could not tell whether the decedent was still alive, and he screamed for his friend, Tiffany to call 9-1-1. McKinney immediately thought a robber had come to their apartment and that the intruder shot his roommate. R. 22, l. 20 – 23, l. 20.

An unusual looking change jar that McKinney kept in his room was missing. This contained the change that McKinney would drop in it along with his dollar bills and scratch-off lottery tickets. R. 30, l. 21 – 31, l. 21. McKinney guessed that there was between \$75 to \$100 in change in the jar. R. 35, ll. 8-11.

Tiffany Gambrell was the woman who called 9-1-1 after the decedent was found shot inside McKinney's apartment. Tiffany's sister, Shelvis, and the decedent were engaged to be married. They had been a couple for well over a decade and they had two children together. R. 43, l. 5 – 44, l. 15.

Tiffany remembered hearing McKinney yelling her name at about 7:55 p.m. that New Year's Eve evening. The decedent had been shot and she called 9-1-1. R. 48, l. 24 – 50, l. 10.

Chad Maltby was a police investigator with the Greenville County Sherriff's Office on the night of the New Year's Eve shooting. R. 54, l. 9 – 56, l. 23. Maltby said he learned that someone who was later identified as appellant was seen on the Ingles grocery store surveillance tape around 8:00 p.m. that night. He was putting change into a Coinstar machine. Maltby said the container on the surveillance tape seemed very similar to the one described as stolen from the decedent's apartment. The Coinstar receipt was for \$71.72. R. 77, l. 24 – 82, l. 11.

Maltby testified that he eventually obtained arrest warrants for "Kirk Porter, Raymond Martinez, Robert Belcher, and Keyla Mansell." R. 118, ll. 9-24. Keyla Mansell pled guilty before

the trial of appellant and co-defendant Belcher. R. 96, ll. 2-5. Maltby confirmed to the solicitor that he obtained these arrest warrants after it was revealed that the Coinstar machines had been utilized with “Mr. Porter.” R. 118, ll. 9-11.

A Mercedes became the car of suspicion on the night of the New Year’s burglary and murder. Maltby testified that appellant entered the Ingles grocery store at around 8:21 p.m. that night. R. 138, ll. 18-24. The Mercedes is seen leaving the area of the apartment complex at 7:04 p.m. and returning at 7:36 p.m. The Mercedes left the area again at 7:39 p.m. and returned at 8:01 p.m. R. 135, l. 13 – 146, l. 21.

Maltby said that the police learned that the robbery of the decedent was “Kiki Mansell’s idea.” and he admitted that there was no forensic evidence against appellant in this case. R. 149, l. 3 – 151, l. 22. Maltby testified that he learned directly from Kirk Porter that the idea and the planning for the robbery came from Kiki Mansell. R. 151, ll. 19-24.

Barbara Haun was an area manager for Ingles grocery stores. She confirmed that the Coinstar machine on Poinsett Avenue was used at 8:26 p.m. on New Years Eve, and that one of the men present put the coin container into a trash can after using the Coinstar machine. R. 189, l. 8 – 194, l. 8. The man in the video -- that the state alleged was appellant -- was paid \$71.72 for the change. R. 196, l. 13 – 197, l. 15.

Sherry McBee testified co-defendant Belcher was her boyfriend on New Year’s Eve of 2017. McBee claimed Belcher was acting strangely that night and later became very emotional. R. 215, ll. 1-21. McBee said that she learned the following day on Facebook that the decedent had been killed. R. 217, ll. 14-17. McBee gave bizarre testimony in which she claimed to have a “spiritual connection” with Belcher. She maintained that one night Belcher was crying and he told

her “I did something bad.” R. 218, ll. 5-21. McBee testified that Belcher asked her if he killed someone would she tell on him. R. 219, ll. 8-21.

McBee at first asserted that she kicked Belcher out of her apartment because she thought he was sleeping with one of her best friends, and he not paying his portion of the bills. R. 272, ll. 5-21. McBee later acknowledged on cross-examination that her spiritual advisor told her that co-defendant Belcher was a “baby gator.” R. 274, ll. 12-14. This meant, according to McBee, that Belcher was “blood thirsty.” McBee offered that a “baby gator” was a spiritual term reserved for people like Belcher. R. 274, ll. 12-23.

Kirk Porter

Kirk Porter testified as state’s witness. He had a long criminal record. He had been convicted of burglary in the second degree and conspiracy, another burglary in the third-degree charge, as well as a disturbing school’s conviction. Porter was charged with murder in this case and he was incarcerated at the time he testified for the state. R. 284, l. 16 – 285, l. 22.

Porter had pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter before trial for his involvement in this case. In exchange, the murder charge, as well as unrelated charges against Porter were dismissed. R. 285, ll. 12-22. Obviously unbeknown to the trial jury was that Porter received a prison term of thirteen years when he was later sentenced. This Court can take judicial notice that Porter is eligible for parole in less than five years from this initial brief on February 11, 2029. See, South Carolina Department of Corrections Inmate Search Report.

Porter testified that he knew appellant as “Ratchet.” He had known him for about six years at the time of this incident. Porter said that the Mercedes involved in this case was his car, but it belonged to his girlfriend, Francesca. R. 290, l.8 – 291, l.12.

Porter remembered that on New Years Eve 2017 that Keyla Mansell told him she knew where they could do “a lick.” Cocaine and money were supposed to be at the target apartment. Porter maintained that he was with Kiki Mansell, Belcher, and appellant that night.. R. 293, ll. 2-14. Porter claimed that Belcher and appellant were armed. R. 296, ll. 6-24.

Porter described how he drove the Mercedes to a church and parked. He maintained that appellant and Belcher got out of the vehicle and walked to the apartment complex. Porter claimed that when they returned, they did not have any drugs or money with them. They only brought back a container with change in it. R. 298, l. 14 – 302, l. 24.

Porter said that neither man said anything about what happened, and he did not ask them. R. 303, ll. 2-25. Porter stated that he drove to the Ingles on Poinsett Avenue, and that appellant went into the Ingles with him to use the Coinstar machine. Porter claimed appellant told him the Coinstar machine was not working. R. 304, l. 5 – 307, l. 1.

Porter said that after he dropped appellant off that evening, he went to meet his girlfriend at a hotel. R. 307, ll. 2-17. Porter testified that everyone involved in the burglary that night had been drinking and smoking marijuana. ¹ R. 309, ll. 20-25.

Porter said that he learned the next day that someone had gotten killed during the burglary and robbery. Porter maintained that he had thought “all along” that the robbery he had planned with Mansell had nothing to do with the death of the decedent. R. 335, ll. 7-15; 338, ll. 13-22.

On cross-examination by appellant’s defense counsel Grubbs, Porter admitted that his testimony was “somewhat” different than what he had earlier told the police. R. 316, l. 16 –365, l.

¹ The state, through Porter, presented testimony that Belcher tried to use Porter to exonerate him. Porter said he did not send the solicitor’s office an “affidavit” stating he wished to recant his story against Belcher. R. 318, l. 9 – 320, l. 4. Porter maintained that his signature on the document was forged. R. 320, ll. 2-18.

19. Porter eventually admitted on cross-examination that he had lied to the police throughout the investigation. R. 365, ll. 18-19.

Other testimony

Candice Holsey was thirty-four years old, and she was involved in a romantic relationship with appellant at the time of the New Year's Eve 2017 incident. R. 390, l. 12 – 392, l. 23. Candice remembered that appellant left with Porter that evening to go to a New Year's Eve party, but she did not feel well and returned home. Candice said that when she returned home, appellant was there alone. This was at about 11:00 p.m. on New Year's Eve 2017. R. 396, ll. 1-13. On cross-examination, Candice repeated that she got home before midnight that New Year's Eve evening and that appellant was there when she returned.² R. 399, ll. 7-17.

The state called Dan Kelley to explain the phone records evidence for the suspects on the night of December 31, 2017, from 6:56 p.m. to 8:04 p.m. None of this cell phone evidence implicated appellant. R. 440, ll. 8-10.

Request to charge

Co-defendant Belcher and appellant both requested an instruction on accomplice testimony. R. 447, l. 1 – 449, l. 8. The solicitor claimed that although this instruction was common in the federal court system, she objected to the instruction as an improper comment on the facts. R. 447, ll. 7-17.

The judge said that he had reviewed the request to charge, as well as cases attached to it. He said that he understood this instruction was routine in federal court, that he thought the

² The Mercedes that Kirk Porter drove was later found with a license tag registered to Candice Holsey, appellant's girlfriend, on it. There was no evidence about how Porter got Candice's license plate. R. 401, l. 7 – 402, l. 24.

instruction was improper in state court. He therefore refused to charge the accomplice instruction. R. 449, ll. 9-23.

The request to charge, Court's Exhibit #5, states that there had been testimony from an accomplice in this case who said, "He or she participated in the commission of this crime." The name of the accomplice in the model instruction was not included, and the name "Kirk Porter" being included in the request to charge here was seemingly only for the court's purposes only:

"You have heard testimony of an accomplice, someone who said that he or she participated in the commission of a crime.

Testimony of an accomplice should be received with great care and caution.

You should consider whether the particular accomplice is testifying truthfully or falsely in order to obtain a favorable recommendation of the government in the sentencing in his own case. You should not convict the defendant on the uncollaborated testimony of an accomplice, unless you believe that testimony beyond a reasonable doubt."

R. 557.

This request to charge, Court's Exhibit #5, with the pattern jury instruction attachments and case law attachments is at R. 557-593.

The judge refused to give this requested charge on accomplice testimony, and it only gave a very general charge on witness credibility -- how the particular witness looked on the stand, and whether they had a particular bias or interest in the outcome. R. 519, l. 12 – 520, l. 3.

Discussion

This was a purely circumstantial evidence case. The state's best evidence all came from the accomplice, Porter, who was allowed to plead to voluntary manslaughter where his murder charge was dropped in exchange for his testimony for the state. Porter claimed that appellant and Belcher were designed to commit the burglary and robbery of the decedent. He maintained that

he went with appellant to the Ingles grocery store on Poinsett Avenue afterwards to use the Coinstar machine after the decedent's change jar was stolen. Appellant was apparently seen on the surveillance tape at the Ingles grocery store that evening. This was not direct evidence that appellant committed the murder or that he was guilty of murder as a matter of accomplice liability - - the hand of one is the hand of all.

In Cool v. United States, 409 U.S. 100, 103-104 (1972), a witness pled guilty to a crime for which the defendant was charged but exonerated the defendant. The United States Supreme Court held that the trial court erred in instructing the jury that it must ignore the testimony unless it believed it was true beyond a reasonable doubt.

However, the Court indicated it would have been permissible for the trial court to have simply instructed the jury to view accomplice testimony with caution. That is essentially all appellant requested in this case - - that the accomplice testimony be viewed with caution.

As the court noted in State v. Anthony, 242 Kan. 493, 499-501, 479 P.2d 37, 33-34 (1988), the majority rule is that an accomplice instruction is required when the accomplice testimony is against the defendant. See United States v. Rosa, 560 Fed.2d 149, 156 (3d Cir.), *cert denied* 434 U.S. 862 (1977). In State v. Anthony, the Supreme Court of Kansas adopted the minority view that a cautionary instruction on accomplice testimony was proper in all circumstances where an accomplice testified. The court reasoned "such testimony on behalf of the defendants is becoming more prevalent all of the time, particularly by spouses or convicted friends of the accused who have nothing to lose by taking the blame." State v. Anthony, 242 Kan. 493, 502, 479 P.2d 37, 44 (1988).

In this case, the accomplice testimony of Porter was obviously against appellant and not in his favor. However, appellant respectfully submits that giving the accomplice instruction appellant

requested here upon request - - regardless of whether the context favors or disfavors the prosecution or the defense - - ensures an evenhanded application of the accomplice jury instruction where the reasons for accomplice testimony partiality are not within the ordinary understanding of jurors. See Clifford S. Fishman *Defense Witness as “Accomplice”*: Should the Trial Judge Give a “Care and Caution” Instruction? 96 JCRLC 1 (2005 Northwestern University, School of Law).

The accomplice request to charge at trial was supported by the Pattern Jury Instructions for Federal Criminal Cases District of South Carolina by Eric William Ruschky. R. 557-593. The request to charge was taken verbatim from this Pattern Jury Instruction and the name of the accomplice, Porter, would not be specifically charged since it was unnecessary.

Defense counsel also attached United States v. Safley 408 F.2d 603 (1969), as authority for this jury instruction. The judge in Safley instructed the jury that:

“Ordinarily, it is assumed that a witness will speak the truth, but this assumption may be dispelled by the appearance and conduct of the witness, or by the manner in which he testifies, or the character of the testimony given, or by the evidence to the contrary of the testimony given.”

United State v. Safley 408 F.2d at 605.

The court in Safley held that this jury instruction was improper. The court explained that this instruction also contradicted the rule that an accomplice’s testimony should be received with caution. The court cited United States v. Johnson 371 F.2d 800, 804 (3rd Cir. 1967), for that proposition. See United States v. Safley 408 F.2d at 605.

In United States v. Howard 590 F.2d 564 (4th Cir. 1979), the court approved of a jury instruction on considering whether an accomplice was testifying truthfully or falsely where there was evidence that “deals” were struck between witnesses and the government. United States v. Howard 590 F.2d at 569-570. Defense counsel’s request to charge packet also cited to Caminetti