STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jan 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County

The Honorable Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RAYMOND MARTINEZ, JR.,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2023-001201

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

W. JEFFREY YOUNG
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
305 E. North Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err by adhering to our Supreme Court's precedent and the South Carolina Constitution's prohibition on comments on the facts by a trial judge which required him to deny Appellant's request to comment on the credibility of an accomplice's testimony.

Presentation of the Issue at Trial:

As part of the State's case, the State presented one of the co-defendants who had previously pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter, Kirk Porter. Co-defendant Belcher submitted a request to charge regarding accomplice credibility and argued the charge was "a standard jury instruction" used in federal court and essentially instructed the jurors to critically consider the testimony. (R. p. 447, l. 19 – p. 449, line 4; *see also* Ct. Exhibit 5, Defendant Belcher's Request to Charge). Appellant joined in the request. (R. p. 449, ll. 7-8). The State objected to the federal instruction as in this jurisdiction the instruction "would be an improper comment on the facts" and credibility evaluation is covered sufficiently in the general instructions. (R. p. 447, ll. 7-15). The trial court denied the request for these reasons:

THE COURT: All right. And like I said, I just briefly reviewed through some of these cases, and they kind of discuss different angles of accomplice's testimony and whether they should be admitted or not, one of them. I just believe that -- and it may be that they allow that in Federal Court. I just believe that this seems to be more of a charge on the facts and kind of puts an angle from the judge's perspective of almost, well, you need to believe this -- you don't need to believe this because ... I think it's just a little more than what the state courts in South Carolina usually go to. And I think the spirit of that is covered in my general comment about believability of witnesses.

(R. p. 449, ll. 9-21).

The trial court also noted that defense counsel was not prevented from making arguments on credibility. (R. p. 449, lines 22-23). At the conclusion of the jury instructions, counsel for both

Appellant and co-defendant Belcher maintained an objection to the trial court's declining to give the instruction. (R. p. 537, l. 23-p. 538, line 2).

Discussion:

There are two separate considerations for this issue. First is the prohibition in S.C. Const. art. V, § 21 that "Judges shall not charge juries in respect to matters of fact, but shall declare the law." Second is that "[t]he purpose of instructions is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict." *State v. Leonard*, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). To that end, "there is no error if the charge actually given sufficiently covers the substance of the request." *State v. Mattison*, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010). The trial court here was correctly guided by these controlling considerations. Therefore, there was no error and Appellant is due no relief. *Id.*, ("To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant."). Indeed, Appellant's request would *invite* error under the state constitution and established precedent.

It has long been established in this jurisdiction that a request for a jury charge that includes language that "testimony of an accomplice or co-conspirator must be weighed with great care and be scrutinized closely, carefully and cautiously" should be rejected. *State v. Mikell*, 257 S.C. 315, 328, 185 S.E.2d 814, 820 (1971).⁴ Our Supreme Court found that the instruction constituted a "charge on the facts" and "to give the requested charge would have invaded the province of the

⁴ Appellant has not yet requested to argue against precedent, nor is required to for briefing. Rule 217, SCACR. However, there could be no need for argument against precedent to this Court which is bound to apply the precedent of the Supreme Court. *State v. Phillips*, 416 S.C. 184, 194, 785 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2016) ("it is incumbent upon the court of appeals to apply" the Supreme Court of South Carolina's "precedent.") (citing S.C. Const. art. V, § 9 ("The decisions of the Supreme Court shall bind the Court of Appeals as precedents.")). Thus, Respondent submits the issue may be adequately and swiftly resolved by application of *Mikell*.

jury.” *Id.* The language offered in the *Mikell* case was more comprehensive⁵ than the one requested here but the key takeaway remains that the instruction not only singles out a particular

⁵ The request in *Mikell* is included in the opinion as follows:

‘The testimony of an accomplice or co-conspirator is testimony from a tainted source.

‘The testimony of an accomplice or co-conspirator must be weighed with great care and be scrutinized closely, carefully and cautiously. This testimony, which is subject to great suspicion, must be viewed with distrust and acted on only after due and careful deliberation.

‘The motives of an accomplice or co-conspirators in testifying and the circumstances under which his testimony is given, should be considered in determining how much weight and credibility his testimony should be given.

‘In determining the weight and consideration of the testimony of an accomplice or co-conspirator, you must consider whether there has been any promise to him or indication of favorable treatment for him, or actual benefit conferred, promised or indicated by the circumstances of the case.’

Mikell, 257 S.C. at 328–29, 185 S.E.2d at 820.

The current acceptable charge in the federal district court, District of South Carolina, pattern instructions is:

You have heard testimony from an accomplice, someone who said he or she participated in the commission of a crime.

The testimony of an accomplice should be received with great care and caution.

You should consider whether the particular accomplice is testifying truthfully or falsely in order to obtain a favorable recommendation by the government in the sentencing in his own case.

You should not convict the defendant on the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice, unless you believe that testimony beyond a reasonable doubt.

witness, but also has the court doing so. Our Supreme Court has expanded on that principle in several more recent cases. Those cases provide hefty persuasive support for the older *Mikell* precedent on this particular charge.

In *State v. Stukes*, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016), our Supreme Court considered whether a trial court should instruct the jury on a principle plainly stated in a statute – the provision in S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-657 that “testimony of a victim” of criminal sexual conduct “need not be corroborated in prosecutions under Section 16-3-652 through 16-3-658.” That the provision was intended to be shared with juries was noted in an earlier case, *State v. Rayfield*, 369 S.C. 106, 117, 631 S.E.2d 244, 250 (2006). However, in *Stukes*, our Supreme Court noted the dissent in *Rayfield* observed that an instruction on that provision “has the potential for creating more problems than solutions, for it might cause confusion when read with the general charge on witness credibility” and would appear to single out the witness’s testimony which would amount “to be a comment on the facts by the court.” *Stukes*, 416 S.C. at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 482-483. The Court found that such a charge was indeed a comment on the facts that would be prohibited by S.C. Const. art. V, § 21, reasoning, “By addressing the veracity of a victim’s testimony in its instructions, the trial court emphasizes the weight of that evidence in the eyes of the jury. The charge invites the jury to believe the victim, explaining that to confirm the authenticity of her statement, the jury need only hear her speak.” *Id.*, at 499, 787 S.E.2d at 483. *See also State v. Jackson*, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989) (“Under South Carolina law, it is a general

Ruschky & Shealy, *Pattern Jury Instructions for Federal Criminal Cases, District of South Carolina*, p. 662-663 (2024 Online Edition). This appears to the charge Appellant relied upon. (See R. p. 557 (Ct. Exhibit 5, Defendant Belcher’s Request to Charge).

While the *Mikell* proposed language also included an express declaration of a “tainted source,” notably, that was not singled out as the “breaking point” for the consideration of the charge; rather, the entirety of the charge was at issue.

rule that a trial judge should refrain from all comment which tends to indicate to the jury his opinion *on the credibility of the witnesses*, the weight of the evidence, or the guilt of the accused.”) (emphasis added). The Court also found the instruction would be confusing to the jury finding that “[s]pecifying this qualification applies to one witness creates the inference the same is not true for the others.” *Stukes*, at 500, 787 S.E.2d at 483. There, the confusion was evidenced in *Stukes* by the jury’s question whether they must accept the testimony as true. *Id.*

In *Cone v. State*, 443 S.C. 487, 495, 905 S.E.2d 368, 372 (2024), our Supreme Court revisited the ruling in *Stukes* again not to restrict, but to *extend its reach* to argument by the parties, deciding that a jury should never be informed of the statutory provision. Simply, to single out a witness may foster an incorrect perception that the law requires a certain belief attach to the witness’s credibility. *See State v. Smith*, 227 S.C. 400, 409–10, 88 S.E.2d 345, 350 (1955) (“the real objective of the constitutional provision against charging on the facts is to leave all questions of fact to the jury to be decided according to their own judgment, unbiased by an expression or even intimation of any opinion from the judge”).

Further, though other jurisdictions may have statutes that prohibit conviction on uncorroborated accomplice testimony, *see Bennett v. State*, 144 S.W.2d 476, 480 (Ark. 1940) (referencing statute providing “no person may be convicted on the uncorroborated testimony of an accomplice”); *see also 1 Wharton’s Criminal Law* § 10:15 (16th ed.) (“as a result of statute and caselaw, it is now commonly required that the accomplices’ testimony be corroborated”), and a reason that some instruction is warranted, that is not the case in South Carolina. Notably, federal precedent has a focus not on simple credibility, but on corroboration. For example, in *United States v. Lee*, 506 F.2d 111 (D.C.Cir. 1974), the district court noted that “[i]n some jurisdictions there is an absolute prohibition, typically set by statute, against conviction on the uncorroborated

testimony of an accomplice. More generally the rulings permit a conviction on this basis provided a cautionary instruction is given.” *Id.*, at 118. However, federal precedent also indicates a failure to charge the provision does not always require reversal, making an argument that the charge must be given for fundamental fairness rather difficult to sustain. *See, e.g., United States v. Gibson*, 105 F.3d 1229, 1233 (8th Cir. 1997) (“This Court had held that the language referred to by Gibson is only required when the testifying witness’ statements regarding the defendant’s participation in a crime are uncorroborated” and when there is corroboration, a defendant does not show error); *United States v. Laing*, 889 F.2d 281, 288 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (“We conclude that Brown’s testimony was sufficiently corroborated so as not to require an accomplice instruction.”). Even so, there is no statute or case law in this jurisdiction that requires such a charge, even as a “best practice” or preference. To the contrary, it offends our Constitutional provisions and case law. Additionally, the record shows that the jury was not without guidance in terms of a credibility analysis.

Here, the trial judge gave a detailed charge concerning the determination of credibility of any of the witnesses:

Let’s talk about credibility of witnesses because that’s one of the tools that you will have in making your decision here today. Now, you may, in making your determination of the -- credibility just means believability. So when you’re evaluating testimony, you can consider how a particular witness looked on the stand, whether they had a particular bias, whether they had some interest in the outcome, all of those you can consider in determining whether they’re believable.

You may accept a portion of a witness’s testimony but reject the remaining portion; you may accept all of a person’s testimony against several other witnesses, or you may reject his testimony or her testimony based on other witnesses. Again, you may accept one half, one portion of it and reject the remaining portion of it. As to each piece of evidence, you’re to look at that, and you’re to give it the weight and value you feel is appropriate.

(R. 519, l. 12 – p. 520, line 3).

Given that such a broad charge is not even required, *see State v. Bamberg*, 270 S.C. 77, 82, 240 S.E.2d 639, 641 (1977) (finding trial court’s “refus[al] to instruct the jury to take into consideration the interest or bias of the witness and to observe his demeanor ... was within his discretion” and no prejudice was shown”), there could be no apparent error. Consequently, had the accomplice credibility charge not been otherwise inappropriate, the failure to give the precise charge requested would simply be harmless. Yet, as asserted above, the charge is not appropriate as it would constitute an improper comment on the facts prohibited under the South Carolina Constitution and would create unnecessary confusion or misleading of the jury by the emphasis on one witness’s testimony.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should affirm.